
Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance 
210 South Street, Suite 6 

Bennington, VT 05201 
(802) 442-0713 x302

Meeting Agenda 
Wednesday June 1, 2022; 4:00 to 5:30 PM  

Arlington Town Hall, 3828 Route 7A, Arlington, VT 05250 with Remote Option 

1) Introductions and review of 4/6/22 meeting minutes - 4:00 pm (Chair)

2) FYE 2023 BCRC Contract (SWIP Budget) - 4:05 pm (BCRC Staff)

3) Permanent Household Hazardous Waste Facility – 4:15 pm (BCRC Staff)

4) 3rd Quarter SWIP Report 4:25 pm (BCRC Staff)

5) ISWAP Report - 4:30 pm (BCRC Staff)

a. Sticker Fee Schedule

b. Potential Rupert Membership

6) Compost bin sales – 4:35 pm (BCRC Staff)

7) Household Hazardous Waste Events – 4:40 pm (BCRC Staff)

8) Spring Tour of Casella MRF – 4:45 pm (BCRC Staff)

9) Public Comments - 4:50 pm (Chair)

10) Upcoming Meetings and Events - 5:10 pm (Chair)

1



Table of Contents: 

4/6/22 meeting minutes ________________________________________________ Page 3 

Proposed FYE 2023 BCRC Contract  ________________________________________Page 6 

Household Hazardous Waste Facility Overview _____________________________ Page 16 

Household Hazardous Waste Storage Trailer Quotes ________________________ Page 20 

3rd Quarter SWIP Report______ ________________________________________ Page 21 

ISWAP Sticker Fee Schedule____________________________________________  Page 23 

ISWAP Memo Re: Potential Rupert Membership____________________________ Page 24 

Compost Bin Sales Flyer – 4:35 pm ______________________________________  Page 28 

Household Hazardous Waste Event Flyers _________________________________Page 29 

2



210 South Street, Suite 6, Bennington, VT 05201 
(802) 442-0713 (802) 442-0439 fax

Draft April 6, 2022 Meeting Minutes 

Town Representatives Present: Nick Zaiac (Arlington), Nancy Bushika (Stamford), Dixie Zens 
(Sunderland), Tom Shuey (Pownal), Leslie Perra (Manchester), Stu Hurd (Bennington), Chris 
Reynolds (Searsburg) 

BCRC and BCSWA Staff: Scott Grimm-Lyon, Paula Kamperman 

1. Approval of Minutes: Motion to approve by Stu Hurd, seconded by Nick Zaiac. Passed
unanimously.

2. Introductions/Personnel Update:
a. Scott Grimm-Lyon introduced himself as the new Solid Waste Program Manager.

3. Household Hazardous Waste Events:
a. Grimm-Lyon reviewed the plans to hold three events in calendar year 2022. The

first event is on May 7th in Bennington, the second July 23rd in Readsboro, and
the September 17th in Dorset. Information on outreach efforts including
advertising schedules, flyers and additional details were shared.

b. BCSWA is seeking ways for the waste disposal vendor; US Ecology to
accommodate a request by SVSU to dispose of 800 gallons of hand sanitizer that
has expired, SVSU will pay for the cost of disposal themselves.

c. To save staff and volunteer time no batteries are to be collected this year, and
also no florescent bulbs.

d. Dixie Zens and Stu Herd volunteered to assist on site at the Bennington Event.
Nancy Bushika volunteered to assist with the Readsboro event.

4. Permanent Household Hazardous Waste Facility:
a. On Feb. 23rd BCRC issued an RFP to design/build a new HHW facility to local

engineering firms and a list of consultants given by the state. Responses were
expected by March 23rd but BCRC received little Interest in the project.

b. BCRC performed special outreach and/or tours for MSK Engineering
(Bennington), D&B Engineering (Albany NY) and Dufreenes group (Manchester)
however local firms reported little to no interest in the project as they all
believed they would have to hire an outside specialist to sign off on HHW
storage, and the project would quickly expand outside of the scope of the
budget.

c. Grimm-Lyon reported that BCSWA plans to shift the project scope from
refabricating an existing building to installing a prefabricated trailer unit that will
come prepared with fire suppression and other required elements. Hurd offered

3



the assistance of the Bennington Town DPW to pour a concrete pad, and prepare 
the site for the delivery of a prefabricated trailer. 

5. Compost Bin Sales:
a. 75 Green Cones and 72 compost bins were ordered by BCSWA to be sole for the

annual sale. Sales are intended to be conducted purely through PayPal this year,
with an online store currently being developed by our website vendor, and an
option for Paula Kamperman to sell using a POS system at farmers markets and
fairs through the summer.

b. Dixie Zens agreed to receive delivery of the stock and host pickup dates on June
11th, 13th, and 15th at the Abacus Automation loading dock.

6. Asphalt Shingles Collection Grant:
a. Grimm Lyon reported that ANR recently announced that state rules requiring

transfer stations to provide a space to collect asphalt shingles have been delayed
for a period of no less than two years. Grimm-Lyon spoke with Dale Baler of
Casella who said that when the state requirement to install a collection area
kicked in Casella would install one at the Bennington Transfer Station at their
own expense. Based on this; the up to $10,000 in matching funds offered by the
state to BCSWA to install a concrete pad a and purchase a container may not be
necessary.

b. Stu Hurd made a motion to decline the Asphalt Shingles Collection grant,
seconded by Nancy Bushika and unanimously approved.

7. Public Collection containers and food scraps
a. Paula Kamperman went over best practices for towns to use in waste sorting in

public spaces and at public events. She reminded the towns that she is available
to assist in the planning of any event to make sure they are compliant with state
rules related to collection of food scraps and sorting of waste.

8. Northshire recycling sticker fee overcharge:
a. Grimm-Lyon recently looked into a series of claims from the public that the

ISWAP facilities were being charged $20 for a use sticker instead of the $15
agreed to in the contract with Casella. The contract outlines that Casella has the
right to charge $5 on their own as an administrative fee and they have been
exercising that right. Grimm-Lyon agreed to update the BCSWA website so the
exact cost of the sticker was clear to the public.

b. $15 from each of the ISWAP sticker fees are expected to be returned to BCRC
who will credit the towns on their monthly ISWAP invoices.

9. Possible Polystyrene Program:
a. BCSWA was approached by the South Windsor/Windham Counties SWMD and

asked if we wanted to participate in a pilot program to collect Polystyrene with
the assistance of the southern VT and NH Rotary. After a brief discussion, BCSWA
board members came to a consensus that we should not participate in the
program at this time.

4



10. Public Comments:
None

11. Next Meeting:
June 1st at 4PM.
A motion to adjourn was made by Stu Hurd, seconded by Tom Shuey and passed
unanimously. The meeting was adjourned at 4:55PM.

5



Bennington County 
Solid Waste Alliance 

Contract Number: BCSWA-2021-BCRC 3 
Date: June 1, 2022 
Approved by the BCSWA Board: June 1, 2022 

This contract is between the Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance, formed through an 
interlocal contract between and among the Towns of Arlington, Bennington, Dorset, 
Glastenbury, Manchester, Pownal, Rupert, Sandgate, Searsburg, Shaftsbury, Stamford, 
Sunderland and Woodford (hereinafter, the “Alliance”) and the Bennington County Regional 
Commission, (hereinafter the “Commission”).  

Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance Contact 
Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance 
Chair 

Dixie Zens 

81 Hope Lane 
Sunderland, VT 05250 
Phone: 802-379-6668 
Email: rgzens@gmail.com 

Bennington County Regional Commission Contact: Scott Grimm-Lyon 
210 South Street, Suite 6 Position: Regional Planner 
Bennington, VT 05201 Phone: 802-442-0713 x 2 

Email: sgrimmlyon@bcrcvt.org 

This represents five-year contract, Contract Number BCSWA-2021-BCRC 3, dated October 26, 
2020 and extended and dated June 1, 2022 between the Bennington County Regional 
Commission (hereinafter the “Commission”) and the Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance 
(hereinafter the “Alliance”).  

1. COMMISSION DUTIES. The Commission represents that it is qualified and willing
to perform the services described herein as an independent contractor. The Commission shall
perform specific functions and responsibilities outlined in the Bennington County Solid Waste
Implementation Plan (hereinafter the “SWIP)” adopted November 12, 2020 and approved by
the Vermont Agency of Natural Resources in 2020, which is incorporated into this contract by
reference. The specific actions for any given year of this five-year contract are described in
Attachments A through G of this contract.

2. PAYMENTS. For all services described herein and all goods and materials supplied and
costs incurred by the Commission, the Alliance shall pay the Commission for actual staff costs,
direct costs, indirect costs, costs of any subcontractors and other costs necessary for
completion of the tasks described in Attachments A through H to implement the SWIP for a
total of up to $205,650.00. Amounts in the individual  Attachments may be adjusted provided
the total amount of $205,650.00 is not exceeded. That total amount may be exceeded if

6



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  2 | P a g e

2 | P a g e

approved in advance by the Alliance. The Commission will apply for grants from the Vermont 
Agency of Natural Resources and the Agency of Agriculture and Markets and those grants, if 
awarded, will be used to reduce total costs.  

3. TERMS OF PAYMENT. The Commission will provide invoices on a quarterly basis and at
the end of the Alliance fiscal year detailing staff costs, direct costs (travel, phone, postage,
copying, etc.), indirect costs, and any costs of subcontractors. Invoices for services must be
presented to the Alliance before payment can be made. The Alliance shall pay the Commission
within thirty (30) days after the Alliance receives an invoice and accepts the services performed.
Payment will be sent by check made out to the Bennington County Regional Commission.

4. CONTRACT TERM. This amended contract will start on July 1, 2021 and end on June 30,
2022, except it may extended annually to December 31, 2025 or otherwise be terminated by
written agreement of the parties of as herein provided. The tasks and costs will be revised on
an annual basis during the Alliance budget process.

5. PERFORMANCE OF WORK. The Commission is qualified and willing to perform the
services described above as an independent contractor in accordance with the highest
standards of the Commission’s profession or craft and to the satisfaction of the Alliance.  The
Commission shall not be paid for any work reasonably found by the Alliance to be
unsatisfactory.

6. LIABILITY/INSURANCE.  Both the Alliance and the Commission shall carry appropriate
workers’ compensation, hazard, and liability insurance coverage during the term of this
Contract.  Both the Alliance and the Commission may request in writing that they be named as
an additional insured on liability coverage of the other, and in such case, the requested party
shall arrange for such coverage, if reasonably available, and provide a certificate documenting
such coverage to the requesting party.

7. TERMINATION AND REMEDIES. The Alliance or the Commission may terminate or
modify this Contract at any time upon sixty (60) days written notice.  Should this occur,
payment for work satisfactorily completed shall be adjusted accordingly with the balance of
amounts payable to the Commission for work satisfactorily completed paid to the Commission.
If the Commission defaults in performance of the Commission’s duties under this Contract, the
Alliance may terminate this Contract by written notice to the Commission.  Prior to such
termination, the Alliance will notify the Commission in writing, and the Commission will have
sixty (60) days to remedy the cause of the default to the Alliance’s satisfaction. If at the end of
that period, the cause of the default has not been remedied to the Alliance’s satisfaction the
Contract may be terminated.  Should termination occur as a result of the Commission’s default,
the Alliance shall be entitled to a refund from the Commission of any payments made in part or
in full for work not completed in the amounts specified in Attachments A through G. Notice of
termination by either partly shall be sent to the addresses listed on page 1.

7



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  3 | P a g e

3 | P a g e

8. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The parties intend that an independent contractor-client
relationship will be created by this Contract.  The Commission is not to be considered an agent
or employee of the Alliance for any purpose, and no joint venture or principal-agent
relationship exists.  The Commission and employees of the Commission are not entitled to any
of the benefits that the Alliance provides for its employees.  Neither the Alliance nor the
Commission shall have any right, power, or authority to create any obligation, expressed or
implied on behalf of the other. Notwithstanding the above, the Commission may represent the
Alliance at meetings and conferences on solid waste management issues and may apply for
funding or permits on behalf of the Alliance.

9. ASSIGNMENT/SUBCONTRACT.  The Commission may not assign or transfer this Contract
or subcontract for the work to be performed without the prior authorization of the Alliance.

10. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS AND DATA.   All data, reports, studies, photographs, or
other documents produced (“Products”) under this contract are the property of the Alliance.
Upon request from the Alliance, the Commission shall deliver to the Alliance (i) all tangible
copies (including digital copies) of any Products.  The Commission may use the Products,
supporting data and material only with the prior written approval of the Alliance, and any use
shall include an acknowledgment that the material used was funded by and is the property of
the Alliance.

11. USE OF ALLIANCE NAME/LOGO.  The Commission may not use the Alliance’s name
and/or logo in any way without prior authorization from the Alliance, except to the extent the
work performed requires their inclusion in correspondence, permit applications, grant
applications or work products.

12. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. Both the Commission and the Alliance represent, warrant,
and agree that, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Contract that: (a) each
shall obtain, at its own expense any permits or licenses required for the services under this
Contract; and (b) each shall comply with all statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, court
orders, and other governmental requirements of the United States, the State of Vermont, any
other states that may be involved and local laws.  Neither the Alliance nor the Commission shall
take any actions that might cause the other to be in violation of any of applicable laws or
regulations.

13. CHOICE OF LAW/FORUM. This Contract shall be interpreted, construed, and governed
by the laws of State of Vermont and such laws of the United States as may be applicable.  In the
event of any litigation over the interpretation or application of any of the terms or provisions of
this Contract, the Alliance and the Commission agree that litigation shall be conducted in the
Bennington Unit of the Vermont Superior Court.

14. BINDING EFFECT/AMENDMENTS.  This Contract shall become binding when signed by
the parties.  This Contract supersedes all prior or contemporaneous communications and
negotiations, both oral and written and constitutes the entire Contract between the parties

8



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  4 | P a g e

4 | P a g e

relating to the work set out above.  No amendment shall be effective except in writing signed 
by the parties. 

15. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Contract is held invalid, the other provisions shall
not be affected thereby.

16. OTHER PROVISIONS.

The Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance agrees to fulfill the requirements of the interlocal 
contract the towns entered into in 2015 including holding at least two public meetings annually 
and developing budgets and work plans. The Alliance also agrees to implement the Solid Waste 
Implementation Plan adopted November 12, 2020 and granted approval by the Vermont 
Agency of Natural Resources in 2020 by completing actions listed in the SWIP, including but not 
limited to: 

a. Acquire adequate insurance coverage for HHW and other events and as needed by the
Alliance.

b. Collect information from haulers as required in their pay as you throw ordinances (G1).
c. Provide links to the Alliance website on existing town websites and promote SWIP

actions and events (e.g., HHW events, compost bin sales, workshops, Alliance board
meetings, etc.) on those websites, Facebook pages and other social media.

d. The Alliance continues the agreement with the Rutland Solid Waste District to allow
Alliance residents and businesses to use their permanent household hazardous waste
facilities.

f Provide for disposal of leaf and yard waste, clean wood and food scraps at town transfer 
stations or work with contracted transfer station to assure the same is provided for all 
residents of Alliance towns. 

g Assist in contacts with schools, businesses, and other institutions for the implementation 
of the SWIP and this contract. 

h Work with local organizations such as food pantries, churches, the Goodwill, and others 
to promote food distribution and reuse of materials so as to reduce disposal of those 
materials. 

i. Assist in the distribution of backyard and kitchen compost bins.

The Alliance further agrees to be responsible for any penalties issued by the Vermont
Agency of Natural Resources for failure to implement any part of the SWIP.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Commission and the Alliance have executed this Contract, 
effective as of the last date written below. 

9



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  5 | P a g e

5 | P a g e

Bennington County Regional Commission Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance 

Signature:  By: 

Print Name: James Sullivan Print Name: Dixie Zens 

Signature Signature 

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 

Attachment A – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

Program Administration Time Frame Deliverables  
A1a. Overall management  7/1/22 to 

6/30/23 
Overall oversight of program. 

A1b. Information and 
communications 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Respond to information requests from the public, haulers, 
businesses, schools, event organizers and institutions as well as 
the Alliance board 

A1c. Alliance meetings 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Provide assistance to the Alliance in organizing, taking minutes, 
public notices, and other aspects of Alliance meetings. 

A1d. Maintain records, pay invoices, 
report on funding 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Maintain both hard copy and electronic records and make 
those available to both the Alliance and the public on request. 

A1e. Prepare, issue, review requests 
for proposals/qualifications 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

 Prepare RFQs and RFPs, as necessary. 
Advertise these on the Alliance and town web sites and on the 
Vermont Business Registry and Bid System 

A1f. Manage contracts 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Manage contracts entered into by the Alliance to implement 
the SWIP 

A1g. Audits 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Prepare and maintain materials for audits. 
Hire auditors to complete audits 
Provide report to the Alliance 

A1h. Insurance 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Acquire necessary liability and other insurance for the Alliance 
for household hazardous waste events and other actions 
specified in the SWIP. 

A1i. Apply for SWIP and other grants 
and report to ANR 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Apply for SWIP grant for HHW events and other grants that are 
offered 
Report results of implementation of the SWIP including HHW 
and other events in ReTRAC. 

A2. Sharing services 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Work with the Alliance to foster sharing of services, including 
household hazardous waste events. Green-up Day, E-Waste, 
the mercury program, the battery program, and other 
programs to provide improved access and convenience to 
residents and businesses of towns in the Alliance. Work with 
the Alliance to consider forming a solid waste district. 

10



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  6 | P a g e

6 | P a g e

Attachment A – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

Program Administration Time Frame Deliverables  
A3. Training and qualifications 7/1/22 to 

6/30/23 
1. Attend relevant training sessions in solid waste management
2. Provide report to Alliance on content

A4. Solid waste meetings 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

1. Attend VT Solid Waste District Managers meetings
2. Attend Recyclers and HHW network meetings
3. Attend VT Product Stewardship meetings
4. Provide report to Alliance on content discussed and actions

Total Reimbursement: $46,300.001 

Attachment B – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

General Actions Time Frame Deliverables 
G1. Prepare annual SWIP report 7/1/22 to 

6/30/23 
Collection of data from ReTrac, Goodwill, One World Center, 
PaintCare and other sources to calculate disposal rates by July 1 
of each year, from 2021 through 2025. We will also attempt to 
calculate diversion rates. 

G2. Post 2020 SWIP on BCSWA 
website 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Post the 2020 SWIP on the BCSWA website. 

G3. Maintain website 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Update and maintain the BCSWA website. 

G4. Maintain variable rate pricing 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Remind the towns periodically of their need to register haulers 
and confirm their use of variable rate pricing. 

G5. Maintain information on solid 
waste hauling services 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

Annually collect information from the towns on their 
registration forms for haulers, from phone calls, web sites and 
other means and update the information for the Alliance 
website. 

Total Reimbursement $12,725.00 

1 BCRC may use some funding for membership of the Alliance in the Vermont Solid Waste District Managers 
Association, the Vermont Product Stewardship Council, the Composting Association of Vermont, and professional 
organizations. 

11



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  7 | P a g e

7 | P a g e

Attachment C – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for specific action descriptions. 

Outreach Actions Time Frame Deliverables 
O1. School outreach and education 7/1/22 to 

6/30/23 
Provide outreach to three of the 26 schools in the BCSWA 
service area annually so as to visit at least 13 or 50% of BCSWA 
schools by the end of BCSWA SWIP. Outreach will address 
recycling of all mandated recyclables listed as banned from 
landfill, management of organics, and management of 
hazardous materials and those covered by Vermont Extended 
Producer Responsibility legislation. The Alliance will review 
data collected from previous visits and prioritize schools based 
on 1) whether or not they have been visited previously and 2) 
needs as well as interest in materials management programs. 
The Alliance Outreach Program Manager will visit at least three 
schools annually to meet with staff and teachers and provide 
programs for students where requested, covering recyclables, 
organics. Hazardous materials, electronics, paint, batteries and 
mercury-containing bulbs and thermostats. The Alliance will 
report on these activities in annual SWIP reports. 
We maintain data on outreach efforts, school collection 
methods and areas where further improvement is needed. For 
the latter, we provide follow-up assistance. 

O2. Direct business outreach 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will provide assistance to 40 or 2% of the approximately 
2,000 businesses in the BCSWA service area annually, with the 
goal of reaching 10% or 200 by the end of BCSWA SWIP. BCRC 
will gather existing information and contact businesses and 
institutions to identify key contacts and to categorize 
businesses and institutions by the types (food vs. non-food) and 
size (# employees). This information will be updated as needed.  
BCRC will use the above to prioritize both food and non-food-
based businesses and institutions within the Alliance area for 
outreach.  BCRC and the Outreach Program Manager will 
annually contact the top 100 priority businesses and 
institutions to 1) describe the mission, goals, and resources of 
the Alliance; and 2) interview them about their current source 
reduction, recycling, composting, public space recycling 
programs and volume of material generated. Based on the 
results of that effort, the Outreach Program Manager will 
provide technical assistance and support in person, via email, 
via phone, or via means such as webinars, workshops and social 
media about source reduction, recycling, organics, managing 
hazardous materials, electronics, paint, batteries and mercury 
containing lamps and thermostats to 40 businesses. BCRC will 
report on these activities in the annual SWIP report. BCRC and 
the Outreach Program Manager will survey businesses on their 
current materials management and identify areas where they 
need improvement. The results will be kept in a spreadsheet 
which is then used to provide follow-up where necessary. 

12



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  8 | P a g e

8 | P a g e

Attachment C – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for specific action descriptions. 

Outreach Actions Time Frame Deliverables 
O3. Waste reduction at events 7/1/22 to 

6/30/23 
BCRC and the Outreach Program Manager will annually identify 
major events scheduled for each SWIP year and provide 
materials on the Alliance web page for use by those that 
organize those events. The Outreach Program Manager will 
provide on-site, phone, email, webinar or similar assistance to 
organizers of ten (10) priority events annually, with priority 
depending on the size of the events. These activities will be 
reported in the annual SWIP report. Outreach information and 
materials along with contact information will be kept on the 
BCSWA website starting in 2020 or 2021. 

Total Reimbursement $39,700.00 

Attachment D – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions.2 

HHW and CEG Hazardous 
Waste 

Time Frame Deliverables 

Hold two HHW events 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will hire a qualified HHW disposal company and hold two 
disposal events in Readsboro and Dorset, respectively. This will 
include outreach and advertising. These activities will be 
reported in ReTRAC and the annual SWIP reports.  

Develop a permanent HHW facility 7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will work with the Alliance to develop a permanent 
facility for residents, businesses, and institutions. 

BCRC will develop a plan for management of the facility, a 
facility budget, and oversee facility operations.  

If the plan for the facility will not allow for an operational 
period of no less than four months during the calendar year of 
2023, BCRC will hold additional HHW events to ensure 
compliance with state guidelines. 

2 If the BCSWA infrastructure grant application is approved, BCRC and BCSWA would enter into a separate 
agreement for that work. 

13



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  9 | P a g e

9 | P a g e

Attachment D – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions.2 

HHW and CEG Hazardous 
Waste 

Time Frame Deliverables 

Collection of landfill-banned and 
dangerous materials. 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will report, in the annual SWIP report, the name, address, 
phone number and other relevant information on locations, 
including transfer stations, accepting batteries, mercury 
containing lamps and thermostats, 1- and 20-pound propane 
tanks, E-waste, paint, tires, used oil, and appliances. BCRC will 
also provide for appropriate outreach material on the website, 
Facebook page and periodic publications in local newspapers. 
In our outreach, we will make clear that these materials are not 
to be included with blue-bin or other recyclables. 

Total Reimbursement $90,300.00 

Attachment E – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

Food Donation Time Frame Deliverables 
7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC and the Outreach Program Manager will develop 
materials to encourage food donations as part of 
management of organics and distribute those during 
visits to businesses, institutions, and schools as well as for 
the public. These materials will be developed following 
consultation with local food distribution organizations in 
the Alliance service area. Information on food rescue 
organizations will be updated annually on the Alliance 
website. 

Total Reimbursement $8,775.00 

Attachment F – This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

Textiles Time Frame Deliverables 
7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will collect information and the locations of textile 
collection points on the Alliance web site and provide those in 
the annual SWIP report. 

Total Reimbursement $975.00 

14



BCRC-BCSWA July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 Contract  10 | P a g e

10 | P a g e

Attachment G– This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

Construction and 
Demolition Debris 

Time Frame Deliverables 

Leaf, Yard, and Clean Wood 
Recycling 

7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will work with the Alliance towns to make sure transfer 
stations serving the Alliance towns accept leaf, yard, and clean 
wood debris. These sites will be listed on the Alliance web 
page, in the A to Z guide and will be provided in the annual 
SWIP report. All towns should have access to a collection point 
for leaf and yard debris. 

Total Reimbursement $3,300.00 

Attachment H– This attachment lists duties to be performed, the time frame and total amounts to be 
paid by the Alliance to the Commission for completion of those duties. This attachment will be revised 
annually following development of the Alliance budget. See the adopted 2020 Bennington County Solid 
Waste Alliance Solid Waste Implementation Plan for action descriptions. 

Residuals Time Frame Deliverables 
7/1/22 to 
6/30/23 

BCRC will work with VT ANR Residuals staff to host at least one 
workshop on managing biosolids, septage, wood ash and paper 
fibers. The Alliance will reserve space, invite attendees, and 
help to develop an agenda and report on results in the Year 5 
SWIP report. The Alliance has developed and will continue to 
make available information for the public on managing 
biosolids. 

Total Reimbursement $3,575.00 

15



El
ec

tr
ic

 P
ol

e

G
ro

un
di

ng
 W

ire
G

ro
un

di
ng

 W
ire

Ri
pr

ap
Ri

pr
ap

El
ec

tr
ic

 P
ol

e
El

ec
tr

ic
 P

ol
e

M
ai

n 
Tr

a�
c 

Pa
th

M
ai

n 
Tr

a�
c 

Pa
th

Ex
is

tin
g 

A
sp

ha
lt

Ex
is

tin
g 

A
sp

ha
lt

G
ra

ss
G

ra
ss

Ex
is

tin
g 

Bu
ild

in
g

Ex
is

tin
g 

St
or

ag
e

Tr
ee

St
o

ra
g

e
C

o
n

ta
in

er
(C

as
el

la
)

Le
ac

ha
te

 
M

an
ho

le
Le

ac
ha

te
 

M
an

ho
le

Le
ac

ha
te

 
Ex

ha
us

t
Le

ac
ha

te
 

Ex
ha

us
t

Co
nc

re
te

 C
ub

es
- C

ur
re

nt
 L

oc
at

io
n

Co
nc

re
te

 C
ub

es
N

ew
 L

oc
at

io
n

(A
cc

es
s 

Ch
ai

n)

16
’

40
’

20
’

10
’

7’

24
’

8’
14

’

28
’

N
ew

 P
re

fa
br

ic
at

ed
 T

ra
iil

er

6’

21
.5

’

4’
N

ew
 A

sp
ha

lt

11
’

N
ew

 C
on

cr
et

e

N
ew

 A
sp

ha
lt

Sc
al

e 
H

ou
se

Tr
an

sf
er

St
at

io
n

Ro
ll-

o�
 

Co
nt

ai
ne

rs

O
�

ce

A
re

a 
of

In
te

re
st

Hou
gh

to
n 

La
ne

U
np

av
ed

Asphalt

Tr
an

sf
er

 S
ta

tio
n 

M
ap

Be
nn

in
gt

on
 C

ou
nt

y 
So

lid
 W

as
te

 A
lli

an
ce

Pl
an

 fo
r P

er
m

an
an

t H
ou

se
ho

ld
 H

az
ar

do
us

 W
as

te
 S

to
ra

ge
 F

ac
ili

ty
90

4 
H

ou
gh

to
n 

La
ne

. B
en

ni
ng

to
n,

 V
T 

05
20

1

Si
te

 O
ve

rv
ie

w

6’
  T

ab
le

10
’ x

 1
0’

 
Po

p-
up

Te
nt

Q
ue

ue
:

Fa
ci

lty
 to

 ru
n 

by
 

ap
oi

nt
m

en
t o

nl
y.

 N
o 

m
or

e 
th

an
 3

 c
ar

s 
w

ith
in

 3
0 

m
in

 p
er

io
d.

D
ro

p 
O

�
A

re
a

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 D

ay
 L

ay
ou

t 26
 fo

ot
bo

x
tr

uc
k

Lo
ad

in
g

A
re

a

Sh
ip

m
en

t D
ay

 L
ay

ou
t

16



El
ec

tr
ic

 P
ol

e

G
ro

un
di

ng
 W

ire
G

ro
un

di
ng

 W
ire

Ri
pr

ap
Ri

pr
ap

El
ec

tr
ic

 P
ol

e
El

ec
tr

ic
 P

ol
e

M
ai

n 
Tr

a�
c 

Pa
th

M
ai

n 
Tr

a�
c 

Pa
th

Ex
is

tin
g 

A
sp

ha
lt

Ex
is

tin
g 

A
sp

ha
lt

G
ra

ss
G

ra
ss

Ex
is

tin
g 

Bu
ild

in
g

Ex
is

tin
g 

St
or

ag
e

Tr
ee

St
o

ra
g

e
C

o
n

ta
in

er
(C

as
el

la
)

Le
ac

ha
te

 
M

an
ho

le
Le

ac
ha

te
 

M
an

ho
le

Le
ac

ha
te

 
Ex

ha
us

t
Le

ac
ha

te
 

Ex
ha

us
t

Co
nc

re
te

 C
ub

es
- C

ur
re

nt
 L

oc
at

io
n

Co
nc

re
te

 C
ub

es
N

ew
 L

oc
at

io
n

(A
cc

es
s 

Ch
ai

n)

16
’

40
’

20
’

10
’

7’

24
’

8’
14

’

28
’

N
ew

 P
re

fa
br

ic
at

ed
 T

ra
iil

er

6’

21
.5

’

4’
N

ew
 A

sp
ha

lt

11
’

N
ew

 C
on

cr
et

e

N
ew

 A
sp

ha
lt

Sc
al

e 
H

ou
se

Tr
an

sf
er

St
at

io
n

Ro
ll-

o�
 

Co
nt

ai
ne

rs

O
�

ce

A
re

a 
of

In
te

re
st

Hou
gh

to
n 

La
ne

U
np

av
ed

Asphalt

Tr
an

sf
er

 S
ta

tio
n 

M
ap

Be
nn

in
gt

on
 C

ou
nt

y 
So

lid
 W

as
te

 A
lli

an
ce

Pl
an

 fo
r P

er
m

an
an

t H
ou

se
ho

ld
 H

az
ar

do
us

 W
as

te
 S

to
ra

ge
 F

ac
ili

ty
90

4 
H

ou
gh

to
n 

La
ne

. B
en

ni
ng

to
n,

 V
T 

05
20

1

Si
te

 O
ve

rv
ie

w

6’
  T

ab
le

10
’ x

 1
0’

 
Po

p-
up

Te
nt

Q
ue

ue
:

Fa
ci

lty
 to

 ru
n 

by
 

ap
oi

nt
m

en
t o

nl
y.

 N
o 

m
or

e 
th

an
 3

 c
ar

s 
w

ith
in

 3
0 

m
in

 p
er

io
d.

D
ro

p 
O

�
A

re
a

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 D

ay
 L

ay
ou

t 26
 fo

ot
bo

x
tr

uc
k

Lo
ad

in
g

A
re

a

Sh
ip

m
en

t D
ay

 L
ay

ou
t

17



El
ec

tr
ic

 P
ol

e

G
ro

un
di

ng
 W

ire
G

ro
un

di
ng

 W
ire

Ri
pr

ap
Ri

pr
ap

El
ec

tr
ic

 P
ol

e
El

ec
tr

ic
 P

ol
e

M
ai

n 
Tr

a�
c 

Pa
th

M
ai

n 
Tr

a�
c 

Pa
th

Ex
is

tin
g 

A
sp

ha
lt

Ex
is

tin
g 

A
sp

ha
lt

G
ra

ss
G

ra
ss

Ex
is

tin
g 

Bu
ild

in
g

Ex
is

tin
g 

St
or

ag
e

Tr
ee

St
o

ra
g

e
C

o
n

ta
in

er
(C

as
el

la
)

Le
ac

ha
te

 
M

an
ho

le
Le

ac
ha

te
 

M
an

ho
le

Le
ac

ha
te

 
Ex

ha
us

t
Le

ac
ha

te
 

Ex
ha

us
t

Co
nc

re
te

 C
ub

es
- C

ur
re

nt
 L

oc
at

io
n

Co
nc

re
te

 C
ub

es
N

ew
 L

oc
at

io
n

(A
cc

es
s 

Ch
ai

n)

16
’

40
’

20
’

10
’

7’

24
’

8’
14

’

28
’

N
ew

 P
re

fa
br

ic
at

ed
 T

ra
iil

er

6’

21
.5

’

4’
N

ew
 A

sp
ha

lt

11
’

N
ew

 C
on

cr
et

e

N
ew

 A
sp

ha
lt

Sc
al

e 
H

ou
se

Tr
an

sf
er

St
at

io
n

Ro
ll-

o�
 

Co
nt

ai
ne

rs

O
�

ce

A
re

a 
of

In
te

re
st

Hou
gh

to
n 

La
ne

U
np

av
ed

Asphalt

Tr
an

sf
er

 S
ta

tio
n 

M
ap

Be
nn

in
gt

on
 C

ou
nt

y 
So

lid
 W

as
te

 A
lli

an
ce

Pl
an

 fo
r P

er
m

an
an

t H
ou

se
ho

ld
 H

az
ar

do
us

 W
as

te
 S

to
ra

ge
 F

ac
ili

ty
90

4 
H

ou
gh

to
n 

La
ne

. B
en

ni
ng

to
n,

 V
T 

05
20

1

Si
te

 O
ve

rv
ie

w

6’
  T

ab
le

10
’ x

 1
0’

 
Po

p-
up

Te
nt

Q
ue

ue
:

Fa
ci

lty
 to

 ru
n 

by
 

ap
oi

nt
m

en
t o

nl
y.

 N
o 

m
or

e 
th

an
 3

 c
ar

s 
w

ith
in

 3
0 

m
in

 p
er

io
d.

D
ro

p 
O

�
A

re
a

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 D

ay
 L

ay
ou

t 26
 fo

ot
bo

x
tr

uc
k

Lo
ad

in
g

A
re

a

Sh
ip

m
en

t D
ay

 L
ay

ou
t

18



Securall

US Chemical

Safety Storage Inc.
19



20



210 South Street, Suite 6, Bennington, VT  05201   (802) 442-0713   (802) 442-0439 fax 
___________________________________________________________________________________

Memorandum 

To: Cynthia Browning, Nick Zaiac, Stu Hurd, Rob Gaiotti, Ricky Harrington, John O’Keefe, 
Tom Shuey, Mark Lourie, Karen Dzialo, Chris Reynolds, Dave Kiernan, Nancy Bushika, 
Dixie Zens 

Cc: Jim Sullivan, Andrea Lenhardt, Ryan Thurber 

From: Scott Grimm-Lyon and Paula Kamperman 

Subject: Quarter 3 Fiscal Year 2021 to 2022 SWIP Report 

Date: May 20, 2022 

Expenses Jan-March, 2022 

The third quarter invoice to all of the towns should arrive during the week of 5/16/22. Table 1 
below shows the total amount invoiced to each town for the quarter beginning July 1, 2021 through 
March 31, 2021. Table 1 also shows the budgeted amount per quarter and for the entire year. 
Despite first quarter overruns, for the year we are currently operating under budget. 

21



BCRC 2021-2022 Third Quarter Report to the Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance  2 | 
P a g e  

Table 2 shows expenditures for the year thus far by category. Labor costs are higher than 
previous quarters due to the onboarding period of the new Program Manager, and more hours per 
week being dedicated to staff time than under the previous program manager, you should also expect 
this trend to continue into Q4. We did not receive any funding income in the third quarter.  

22



2020 
Population

Program 
Cost Share

July 2022 
Scheduled 

Reimbursment

Aug. 2022 
Scheduled 

Reimbursment

Sept. 2022 
Scheduled 

Reimbursment

FY23 Q1 Total 
Sticker Fee 

Reimbursement

Sticker Fees Collected 
Jan-Mar 2022 (12,915.00)$          

Arlington 2,457           23.362% (1,005.74)$            (1,005.74)$         (1,005.74)$         (3,017.22)$             
Dorset 2,133           20.281% (873.12)$               (873.12)$             (873.12)$             (2,619.35)$             
Manchester 4,484           42.636% (1,835.47)$            (1,835.47)$         (1,835.47)$         (5,506.40)$             
Sandgate 387               3.680% (158.41)$               (158.41)$             (158.41)$             (475.24)$                
Sunderland 1,056           10.041% (432.26)$               (432.26)$             (432.26)$             (1,296.78)$             
Total Population 10,517         

ISWAP Sticker Fee Reimbursement Schedule FYE 2023 Q1

23



Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance 
210 South Street, Suite 6 

Bennington, VT 05201 
(802) 442‐0713 x302

May 23rd, 2022 

Deborah Baker 
Co-Chair; Rupert Town Select Board  
187 East Street, West Rupert, VT 05776 
dbaker@rupertvt.org 
(802) 394-7816

Dear Ms. Baker, 

This is in response to your request to learn more about the Integrated Solid Waste Applications 

Program (ISWAP) and the potential costs for Rupert to participate in the program. 

As you may know two Transfer Stations in your area are collectively paid for under the ISWAP and 

operated by Casella.  

The towns of Arlington, Dorset, Manchester, Sandgate, and Sunderland all contribute to operating the 

Northshire Transfer Station (in Dorset, VT) and the Sunderland Transfer Station. Costs are shared by 

the towns relative to the share of their population as tallied by the 2020 US Census and both stations 

are open to use by residents of those towns. 

Below I have attached a budget for the Town of Rupert, outlining the theoretical costs of the ISWAP program if 
the Town had participated during the previous 12‐month period (See Attachment 1). 

Our calculations show that Rupert would have paid an average cost of $316.87 per month and an annual cost 
of $3,802.41 to participate in the program. 

This cost largely covers Recycling and Food Waste disposal. Residents are still required to pay for 

additional waste disposal at the drop off locations. Cost for residents can be found in the chart below 

(See Attachment 2) and also on our website at bcswa.org. Residents also must pay an annual fee of $15 

to receive an access sticker for the Transfer Station. The money collected from the sticker fee is sent 

back to the towns to help offset the costs to taxpayers who do not use the facility. 

Rupert currently does not have a transfer station, and the residents of Rupert have no public waste 

disposal opportunities now that they can no longer drop off waste behind the Town garage on Rt. 153. 

Transfer Stations help communities to move their waste efficiently from the point of collection to 

distant, regional landfills or waste‐to‐energy plants. By consolidating solid waste collection and 

disposal points, transfer stations help communities reduce the cost of hauling waste to remote 

24



BCSWA  2 | P a g e

disposal sites. Joining the ISWAP program could offer your town an opportunity to fill a service gap to 

your residents while sharing the overall costs with your neighboring towns. 

Please let me know if you’d like any more information. I am more than happy to go over this in more 

detail with you either individually or with your fellow elected officials and the public at a Select Board 

Meeting. 

Sincerely, 

Scott Grimm‐Lyon, AICP 
Program Manager 

Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance 

201 South St., Suite 6 

Bennington, VT 05201 

25



BCSWA  3 | P a g e

Attachment 1: 

Note: Previous 12 Month Period does not correspond to Fiscal Year 

26



BCSWA  4 | P a g e

Attachment 2: 

27



28



HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE COLLECTION 
For Residents & Small Businesses of 

Readsboro, Searsburg, and, Stamford 

The collection is free for residents. Proof of residency will be required. Small businesses must 
pre-register and prepay for the amount delivered by July 8, 2022. 

WHAT TO BRING: Any substance with labels that say CAUSTIC, TOXIC, CORROSIVE, 
POISON, FLAMMABLE, DANGER, WARNING, CAUTION, USE IN AN OPEN ENVIRONMENT. 
Examples include: antifreeze, turpentine, stains, varnishes, carburetor cleaner, creosote, drain 
cleaner, oven cleaner, paint strippers, thinners, solvents, fertilizers (weed and feed only - no 
compost of manure), gas treatments, gasoline, kerosene, engine degreaser, floor, metal, and 
furnisher polishes, latex and oil based paint, pool chemicals, pesticides, herbicides, fungicides, 
mercury thermostats, batteries (single use/primary and rechargeable), driveway sealer, fire 
extinguishers, and one and twenty pound propane tanks.   

Containers will not be returned.  Any product received in a container (e.g., old gasoline) must 
be dropped off and left in its container. No containers will be returned. 

WHAT NOT TO BRING:  Used motor oil, auto or mower batteries, radioactive materials, smoke 
and CO2 detectors, fluorescent bulbs (including CFLs), sharps (i.e. needles), tires, 
explosives (ammunition/fireworks), furniture, bulky items, mattresses, scrap metal, appliances, 
electronic waste, products in garbage bags, trash, empty cans/containers, dried paint, 
shampoos, soaps, pharmaceuticals, ointments, dish soap, dishwasher soap, candles, rock salt, 
drywall compound, dried out latex paint, empty cans, and fertilizers without herbicides.   

Event Management: Please place all items to be disposed in the trunk of your car or the back 
of your van or truck. Do not exit your vehicle. Please leave your pets at home. 

Sponsored by the Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance, the Windham Solid Waste 
Management District, the VT Agency of Natural Resources, the VT Agency of Agriculture 
and Markets, and the Vermont Agency of Transportation 

For more information or to pre-register a business contact Scott Grimm-Lyon at 
sgrimmlyon@bcrcvt.org or (802) 442-0713 x 2 

Saturday July 23, 2022 
9:00 AM to 1:00 PM 

Vermont Agency of Transportation 
Maintenance Facility 
1136 VT Route 100 

Readsboro, VT 
 

29



HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE COLLECTION 
For Residents & Small Businesses of 

Arlington, Bennington, Dorset, Glastenbury, Manchester, Pawlet, Pownal, Rupert, 
Sandgate, Searsburg, Shaftsbury, Stamford, Sunderland and Woodford 

The collection is free for residents. Proof of residency will be required. Small businesses must 
pre-register and prepay for the amount delivered by September 2, 2022.  

WHAT TO BRING: Any substance with labels that say CAUSTIC, TOXIC, CORROSIVE, 
POISON, FLAMMABLE, DANGER, WARNING, CAUTION, USE IN AN OPEN ENVIRONMENT. 
Examples include: antifreeze, turpentine, stains, varnishes, carburetor cleaner, creosote, drain 
cleaner, oven cleaner, paint strippers, thinners, solvents, fertilizers (weed and feed only - no 
compost of manure), gas treatments, gasoline, kerosene, engine degreaser, floor, metal, and 
furnisher polishes, latex and oil based paint, pool chemicals, pesticides, herbicides, fungicides, 
mercury thermostats, batteries (single use/primary and rechargeable), driveway sealer, fire 
extinguishers, and one and twenty pound propane tanks.   

Containers will not be returned.  Any product received in a container (e.g., old gasoline) must 
be dropped off and left in its container. No containers will be returned.

DO NOT BRING:  Used motor oil, auto or mower batteries or other lead-acid batteries, 
radioactive materials, smoke and CO2 detectors, fluorescent bulbs (including CFLs), sharps 
(i.e. needles), tires, explosives (ammunition/fireworks), furniture, bulky items, mattresses, scrap 
metal, appliances, electronic waste, products in garbage bags, trash, empty cans/containers, 
dried paint, shampoos, soaps, pharmaceuticals, ointments, dish soap, dishwasher soap, 
candles, rock salt, drywall compound, dried out latex paint, empty cans, and fertilizers without 
herbicides.   

Event Management: Please place all items to be disposed in the trunk of your car or the back 
of your van or truck. Do not exit your vehicle. PLEASE WEAR A MASK. Please leave pets 
at home. 

Sponsored by the Bennington County Solid Waste Alliance, the VT Agency of Natural 
Resources, the VT Agency of Agriculture and Markets, Casella Waste Management, and 
the Dorset School. 

For more information or to pre-register a business contact Scott Grimm-Lyon at 
sgrimmlyon@bcrcvt.org or (802) 442-0713 x 2 

Saturday September 17, 2022 
9:00 AM to 1:00 PM 

Dorset School 
130 School Drive 
Dorset, VT 05251 

30




